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	LOCATION INFORMATION
(See fields below)
	Photo:

Date:
Source:
	Top: Residence facing Morrison Road.
Bottom: Old Barn facing Eldwick Loop.
May 1998
Bruce Callow & Associates Pty Ltd

	HCWA Reference No.
	HCWA  No.
	Other Reference No.
	MDG Site No. 78

	Name of Place
	Hancock’s Dairy / House

	Other Name (1)
	Hancock’s Bona Vista Dairy.

	Other Name (2)
	

	Location/Site/Address:
	

	Street Number
	414  (lot 691)
	Street Name
	Morrison Road

	Suburb/Town
	Swan View

	Other Locational descriptor (text)
	

	Local Government Authority
	Shire of Mundaring

	Map References: (use fields below)
	

	Map Name
	Perth BG34
	Map scale 
	1 : 20 000

	Rectangle
	48 64
	Northing
	
	Easting
	

	Area (ha)
	

	
OWNERSHIP & LAND DESCRIPTION 

	Owner 
(use fields below):
	NB. "Status" - ownership type ie: freehold, vestee, lessee, occupier). 
Use "Item N0." to link owner & land parcel if more than one of each.

	Owner
	Address
	Phone/fax
	Status
	Item No.

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	

	Land Description  (use fields below):

	Reserve No.
	Lot/Location No.
	Plan/Diagram
	Vol/Folio
	Item No.

	
	
	
	
	

	DESCRIPTION:

	Construction Date (1)
	c.1908/9 House 

	Construction Date (2)
	

	Source/Details
	Certificate of Title Vol. 419 Fol. 200

	Site Type (see HCWA ‘Type’ list)
	0101

	Use(s) of Place (use fields below):
	

	Original
	Residence & Dairy
	Present
	Residence
	Other
	

	Architect/Designer (1)
	

	Architect/Designer (2)
	

	Other Associated Persons 
	Samuel Herbert Hancock & family

	Building Description: 

	Construction Materials  (use fields below):

	Walls
	Brick
	Tuck pointed
	Granite footings

	Roof
	Corrugated iron
	Timber framed
	

	Other
	
	
	

	Modifications
	Brick & iron additions to rear, dormer windows & bedroom built into roof space. 

	Condition
	very good

	Integrity (how much of the original fabric is intact? - use text field below):

	Very high, including the original residence which is intact and the alterations and additions which are sympathetically integrated.

	Description: (Describe the place and its setting):

	

Hancock’s house and remaining outbuildings are located on a 1734m2 sloping, foothills site with views out across the coastal plan towards the city.  The house is of simple Victorian Georgian[footnoteRef:1] style character from the early Federation period or of a plain Federation Bungalow[footnoteRef:2] style from the turn of the Century. The long, narrow site is all that remains, through subdivision, of the original dairy site (see ‘History’ below) and now has two street frontages with the residence facing north to Morrison Road and the old barn facing south to Eldwick Loop.  Mid to late 20th Century houses on residential lots adjoin the site on either side and Morrison Road is has arterial road status.  Located on the site, mid way between the rear of the house and the barn are several fruit trees (a fig and apricot) planted at the time the house was built. [1:  A Pictorial Guide to Identifying Australian Architecture Apperly R, et al; Angus & Robertson; pp42 - 45.
]  [2:  ibid; Apperly; pp 144 - 145.] 


The original dairy buildings were located on the adjacent residential lot to the west.  The old brick barn is a two storey, red brick (partially painted) and iron structure on the eastern boundary.  The building is suffering some cracking and subsidence at the NE corner believed to have been caused through excavation when a sewer main was installed in the adjacent easement.  To protect the historic structure and allow the building to be adapted to a use to ensure its conservation, the damage could be stabilised along with other deteriorating brickwork.  The barn has large double width openings on the west and north.  Original fixed, timber louvred openings exist on the west face at ground and first floor loft level.  Internally, the original timber partitions forming mangers or stalls have been removed but the timber stair and floor to the first floor loft remain.

	The house is constructed of red, tuck-pointed brickwork with narrow double hung windows and decorative rendered sills to the front and east.  Wider windows and sets of doors on the west side open onto timber boarded verandas with timber posts.  The veranda runs around all four sides of the rectangular floor plan and several original posts, with simple stop chamfer detailing remain.  The veranda and house sits just above ground level on the east and is 1 – 1.5 metres above the sloping ground on the west side.  The large hipped roof is of red corrugated iron with a bull-nosed veranda attached to the wall below the main roof.  Two large dormer windows, with cream painted weatherboard cladding, project out of the roof on the west side.  The dormers were installed in 1996 as part of alterations to provide a new main bedroom and en-suite into the roof space.  The dormer windows, together with several windows below on the western veranda have a horizontal proportion which identifies them from the vertical proportion of original windows.  Several large, corbelled, red brick, chimneys with rendered bases and cappings complete the roof-scape. 

The internal planning of the residence is simple and typical of its period, with the main rooms arranged either side of a central passage/hallway leading from the front door through to the back veranda.  The passage is separated from the hall by a decorative moulded plaster archway.  The original house had a lounge on the west with a large dining room behind with back to back fireplaces.  Beyond the dining  room would have been a kitchen with bathroom and laundry across the back veranda.  On the east side of the hall were three bedrooms leading down to the back veranda where recent extensions have occurred.  The extensions and alterations have removed the former back veranda to provide a large new kitchen, family room/lounge on the west and on the east a new stairwell, bathroom, laundry and toilet.  The new stairwell leads to new bedroom suite in the roof space where new dormer windows have been incorporated with re-roofing. Internal finishes to the large rooms are simple, with plastered walls, decorative cornices and some ceiling roses to the high ceilings.  There are fireplace surrounds in the main rooms and timber floors throughout that have been stripped back and polished.  Overall, the alterations and additions maintain the original materials, finishes and roofline to provide a unified and sympathetic appearance with the original building. 


History of Place / Site: The land on which this house and dairy were constructed is a very small part of the original 4000acres (1620ha) ‘Woodbridge’ grant assigned to Captain James Stirling in 1829.  In 1883, Gingin farmer and grazier Henry Brockman purchased the land from Stirling’s executors, including his nephew Frederick Henry Stirling.  The land was then subdivided and, in November 1891, 1000 acres ( 405ha) north of the Guildford to York Road (now Great Eastern Highway) was purchased by Guildford stock and station agent, James Morrison.  In March 1886, Morrison had also purchased the 925 acres ( 375ha) known as ‘Bushmead’ from Brockman, making him a substantial landowner in the region.  The present day Morrison Road (originally known as Boundary Road), is named after him and appears on a title issued in October 1897.  

In August 1895, slightly more than 27 acres ( 11ha) of Morrison’s 1000 acres was resumed for the construction of the Eastern Railway’s ‘Mahogany Creek Deviation’ (Sites 178 & 204). Built to overcome the shortcomings of the original route through Boya and Darlington to the Eastern Goldfields, the deviation was officially opened in February 1896.  Subdivision of land in the vicinity of the construction was undertaken by both government and private landholders, including James Morrison, and Eastern Railway contractor W.H.Hedges.  Despite the buying and selling activity of the 1890s, the settlement of the area was slow.  In December 1905, a 20 acre ( 8 ha) lot was bought ‘in absentia’ from Morrison by London merchant John Ewart.  

	
In May 1908, a 120 foot ( 37metres) wide strip running between Morrison and Salisbury Roads and designated as lots 89 and 114, was purchased by Samuel Herbert Hancock.  It represented slightly more than one acre ( 0.4ha) of Ewart’s land. Hancock may have already been in the area, perhaps renting the land he bought, because on the title he is described as ‘….Dairyman, of Swan View’.  Prior to being in Swan View, Hancock is listed in Wises Post Office Directory as living at King St Boulder.  According to family members he was a miner, and having developed the ‘Miner’s Disease’ (probably Silicosis) which eventually killed him, was told to leave the Eastern Goldfields.  In February 1915, Samuel Hancock bought more land in the Swan View area including, lots 159 – 163 inclusive, with frontages onto what is now Beresford Gardens.  In total, the Swan View properties owned by the Hancock family covered 23 acres ( 9 Ha), including land eventually used for the Brown Park Recreation Ground and Hall.

Title information indicates that in April 1909, Samuel Hancock raised a mortgage of £ 93 /17/ 10 with the Commercial Bank of Australia Ltd.  This is most likely to have been for the construction of the house and dairy. The house, dairy, stables and milking shed were all built at a similar time. Remaining near the house, and believed to have been planted by Samuel’s wife Flencaina, are a fig and apricot tree.  The building work was contracted out but supervised by Samuel.  According to Lionel George King, a former milkman at the dairy, who began work there in 1915, the dairy was known as Hancock Bona Vista Dairy and when the phone was connected, the number was 105.  The name ‘Hancock Bona Vista Dairy’ is clearly visible in a family photograph of the van driven by Samuel Hancock junior.

Several events in the local area contributed to the demand for milk from Hancock’s dairy. During the First World War, one of the largest customers in the area was the Australian Imperial Forces army camp at nearby Blackboy Hill.  Over the period 1914-1918, 32,000 men received their initial training there and even when the war ended, over 1,500 patients were treated in the camp hospital for the subsequent influenza epidemic of 1919.  Both Hancocks and Strempel’s Jersey dairy in Greenmount are known to have supplied the camp with milk.  By the 1930s, the local population in Swan View had reached nearly 190, and during the depression of the same period an additional 1,000 unemployed single men were housed in the former army camp and worked on local construction projects. Roy Hancock, son of Samuel and Flencaina, indicated recently that the family dairy ran about 100 cattle, consisting of 80 milkers and 20 dry stock and breeders.  The latter were grazed on the ‘Tunnel paddock’, a 100 acre ( 40 Ha) area of Crown land which ran alongside Viveash Road, down to Jane Brook (Rocky Pool) and included the Swan View Tunnel (Site 178). The dairy, having been built of brick with a corrugated iron roof, was thought to be advanced for its time. All the Hancock boys, Samuel junior, Leslie, Keith, Roy and Bert and their cousin Claude, worked to maintain and operate the dairy.  As was typical of the day, their only sister Florrie (Flencaina) helped her mother run the household.  There were few houses in the vicinity. Those remembered by Roy, who was born in 1917, and left home in 1934, include the weatherboard Stationmaster’s house near the Swan View railway station, and a brick house, also used by the railway staff on the corner of Viveash Road, near the ‘station paddock’. On the opposite side of Boundary (Morrison) Road, was Rourkes orchard, vineyard, service store, post office & telephone booth.  Further east of Hancock’s house, on the same side of the road and leading up to the railway line, were two weatherboard houses, one of which was, after his marriage, occupied by Samuel Hancock junior.

Water for the house came from the Mundaring Weir scheme, but the dairy relied on a tank, windmill and spring / well system.  Hay and chaff, all grown on the property, were stored on the upper level of the milking shed/stables and dropped down an opening to the stalls below. The inside of the 8 milking bails (stalls), cream room, horses stables, cart shed and staff room were all whitewashed with lime and there were regular visits from the Health Inspectors. Initialy, as was typical of the era, fresh milk would be placed in churns and then delivered daily by horse and cart to customers as far away as Midland and Bellevue. (It was not until the Milk Act of 1932, and the formation of the Milk 

	Board in 1933, that the cooling of milk before delivery was required.)  Later, Samuel Hancock junior, delivered milk in a Morris delivery van, and from about 1930, when he took over running of the dairy from his mother, shifted the business to an area near Sayer Street, Midland Junction, closer to the Swan River flats and Blackadder Creek.

In November 1920, title information for the Morrison Road property shows that a 7 year lease with an option of purchase, was granted to Swan View dairyman August Lewis Deschamp.  His rent was set at £156 per annum, with payment of a proportion every 4 weeks.  According to Roy Hancock, this lease arrangement lasted for 18 months while the family was in Bunbury running the Highway (formerly Federal)  Hotel.  Although the weather affected Samuel’s health and forced them to shift back to Swan View, the hotel remained in the family, and was eventually run by Roy and his older brother Keith. Deschamp’s option to purchase the Swan View dairy was not taken up, because after Samuel Hancock died in December 1926, the property was transferred to his widow Flencaina Hancock, who owned it until her death in May 1958.  Over the next twenty years, as tenants in common with varying amounts of undivided shares, numerous descendants of Samuel and Flencaina owned the land near the house and dairy.  The only owners listed on the titles as living at a Morrison Road address were Leslie, Ross Victor and Barry Leslie Hancock.  Other surnames on the title include Spurling, Irvine, Peacock, Peters, and Vincent.  

In December 1976, a new subdivision, designated as part or lot 128, was created from the northern section of the original lots 88 and 89.  It had Morrison Road as its northern frontage and Eldwick Loop to the south.  In September 1977, the new part 128 was transferred to Caterina Sear who was described on the title as living at lot 89 Morrison Road.  She appears to have been the owner for the next 8 years.  In March 1979, part 128 was further subdivided into lots 690 and 691.  From August 1985 to March 1995, when it was purchased by the present owners, the house and former dairy, located on lot 691, was owned by Michael and Judith Percival.

During renovations to the house by the present owners, evidence of the name Hancock was found written on the bricks and fireplace surrounds.  They have also taken the initiative to contact the Hancock family, thus providing valuable information for this site record.  The Hancock family had an association with this property for at least 70 years.  Their Dairy, which remained at Swan View until the 1930s, was representative of the many small operations which existed on what was then the outer fringes of Perth.  By the 1950s, such small family run dairies had all but disappeared.


	SIGNIFICANCE

	Historic theme (s) 
	Populations: settlement & mobility; Occupations; Social & Civic activities; People & Events.

	Statement of Significance (use field below – to be completed by Assessor)

	The Hancock’s dairy buildings, ie: house and barn, have very high aesthetic, social and historic significance for Swan View and the Mundaring community as a whole.  They have very high aesthetic significance as a rare surviving example of their period in this location, and because of their good condition and high levels of integrity.  They have very high social and historic significance for their associations with early land-holders in the colony and the region; the Hancock family; and as  remnants of early primary industry and dairying in the district.


	Recommendation/Conservation Strategy  (To be completed by Assessor)

	
The Hancock’s dairy residence and barn require the highest level of protection under the Municipal Inventory and the owners given maximum encouragement to protect the significance of the place.  The old barn requires stabilising to conserve and protect its significance and could be adapted to residential use with sensitive restoration alterations and additions.  Any further subdivision of the site needs to recognise the need to maximise the space around such a large old residence and the significance of the existing fruit trees which should be incorporated into the curtilage of the residence.




	OTHER INFORMATION

	Bibliography: (cite sources used below)
	Refer also to Bibliography-Appendix

	
Elliot, I. ibid. pp. 48-51, 225-231; Land grant to Captain James Stirling No. 83; Certificates of Title Vol. 17 Fol. 108, Vol. 41 Fol. 160, Vol. 111 Fol. 172, Vol. 257 Fol. 94, Vol. 356 Fol. 83, Vol. 419 Fol. 200, Vol. 100 Fol. 105A, Vol. 1462 Fol. 729, and Vol. 1527 Fol. 392; Cullity Maurice History of Dairying in Western Australia, UWA, 1979, Chapter 8; Wises West Australian Post Office Directory, 1905-1928 various issues; letter from current owners 12th June 1996 & through them, information from Hancock Family March 1998, especially Roy Hancock of Australind.


	Listing and Assessment:
	

	Assessor (s) Name 
	Assessor (s) Address/Phone

	Bruce Callow & Assoc Pty Ltd
	69 Grt Northern Hwy;  PO Box 1377, Midland  6936
Tel. (08) 9250 2296  Fx. (08) 9274 6592 

	Nominee’s Name (optional)
	Nominee’s  Address (optional)

	 MHHS

	

	State Register of Heritage Places:
	(y/n)  
	Date:

	Classified by the National Trust
	(y/n)
	Date:

	Register of the National Estate
	(y/n)
	Date:

	Local Town Planning Scheme
	(y/n)
	Date:
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